
 
GULF BREEZE CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
 

SEPTEMBER 19, 2016 
          MONDAY, 6:30 P.M. 
  COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
1. ROLL CALL, INVOCATION, AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 

September 7, 2016, Regular Council meeting  
September 7, 2016, Gulf Breeze Financial Services Board of Directors meeting 
September 7, 2016, Community Redevelopment Agency Board of Directors meeting 

 
3. PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS  None 

 
 RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES   
 
 PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING 
 

Resolution No. 25-16   Establishing a Final Millage Rate of 1.9723  
 
Resolution No. 26-16   Adopting a Budget for Fiscal Year 2017 
                           

4. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS* 
 

A. Approval of an emergency repair of the Live Oak Liftstation and authorize payment to Utility 
Services Company in the amount of $58,252.30 to repair the Live Oak Liftstation 
 

B. Approval to declare 2011 Ford Crown Victoria, VIN 2FABP7BV8BX105661, as surplus 
property and authorize the sale of the vehicle on “Govdeals” auction site 
 

C. Approval to declare 2000 Dodge 2500 truck, VIN 3B7KC26Z01M246238, and 2003 
Chevrolet S-10, VIN 1GCCS14X138201559, as surplus and authorize the sale of both 
vehicles on “Govdeals” auction site 

 
D. Endorsement of Seagrass Restoration / Mitigation Plan – Gulf Power 
 
E. Discussion of annual status report for the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
 
F. Discussion regarding installation of fourth art sculpture   
 

*These are items considered routine in nature and will be considered by one motion.  If any citizen 
wishes to voice an opinion on one of the items, you should advise the Council immediately. 
 
 
 

  



Regular Meeting Agenda 
September 19, 2016 
Page 2 
 
5. ACTION AGENDA ITEMS 

 
A. Discussion of Ordinance No. 07-16 amending Section 3-2 of the City Code of ordinances 

regarding the sale of alcoholic beverages  
 

B. Approval of Contract and Bylaws with the Public Risk Management of Florida Health Trust  
 
C. Approval of a Gulf Breeze Septic Tank Elimination Program (STEP) 

 
D. Approval of a Septic Tank Elimination Program (STEP) for 102 Shoreline Drive 
 
E. Authorization Granting FS Advisors permission to act on behalf of the City in accordance 

with the City’s investment policy 
 
F. Discussion regarding adoption of policy for automatic utility rate increase consistent with the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
 

6. NEW ITEMS 
 
7. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 
8. PUBLIC FORUM 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If any person decides to appeal any decisions made with respect to any matter considered at this meeting or public 
hearing, such person may need to insure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and any evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. The public is invited to comment on matters before the City Council upon 
seeking and receiving recognition from the Chair.   If you are a person with a disability who needs accommodation in order to 
participate in a public hearing you are entitled to the provision of certain assistance.  Please contact the City Clerk’s office at 
(850) 934-5115 or at 1070 Shoreline Drive, Gulf Breeze at least one (1) week prior to the date of the public hearing. 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 1 
 

The 1,302nd Regular Meeting of the Gulf Breeze City Council, Gulf Breeze, Florida, was held at 
Gulf Breeze City Hall on Wednesday, September 7, 2016, at 6:30 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL, INVOCATION, AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
Upon call of the roll the following Councilmembers were present:   Mayor Matt Dannheisser, 
Councilwoman Renee Bookout, and Councilwoman Cherry Fitch.  Councilman David G. 
Landfair and Mayor Pro Tem Joseph B. Henderson were not in attendance.   
 
Mayor Dannheisser congratulated and welcomed Councilman-elect Tom Naile to the City 
Council.   
 
The City Clerk gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
Councilwoman Bookout moved for approval of the August 15, 2016, Regular Meeting Minutes.  
Councilwoman Fitch seconded. The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
Councilwoman Fitch moved for approval of the August 15, 2016, Gulf Breeze Financial Services 
Board of Directors meeting minutes.  Councilwoman Bookout seconded.  The vote for approval 
was unanimous.   
 
PRESENTATION AND PROCLAMATIONS:    
None 
 
RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES:   
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Ordinance No. 07-16  Amending Code of Ordinance Section 3-2 regarding the hours of 

sale of alcoholic beverages     (Second Reading) 
 

The City Clerk read the Ordinance by title.  The Mayor opened the Public Hearing.  The 
following individuals spoke regarding the proposed ordinance: 
 
Robert Turpin, 2 Madrid Avenue, spoke in opposition of 24 hour off-premises sales.   
 
James Campbell, 7214 Lago Vista Court, spoke in favor of the ordinance.   
 
 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 2 
 

Mayor Dannheisser closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Councilwoman Fitch advised that she spoke with a resident who opposed the 24 hour sale of 
alcohol.  The Council then discussed prohibiting the sale of off-premises consumption between 
the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m.   
 
Councilwoman Fitch made a motion to table Ordinance No. 07-16 until the next set of meetings.  
Councilwoman Bookout seconded.  The vote to table consideration of Ordinance No. 07-16 was 
unanimous. 

 
Resolution No. 22-16  Establishing a Tentative Millage Rate of 1.9723  
 
The Mayor opened the floor for public comments.  No comments were made by the public.  
Councilwoman Bookout moved for approval of Resolution No. 22-16.  Councilwoman Fitch 
seconded.  The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
Resolution No. 23-16  Adopting a Tentative Budget for Fiscal Year 2017 
 
The Mayor opened the floor for public comments.  No comments were made by the public.  
Councilwoman Bookout moved for approval of Resolution No. 23-16.  Councilwoman Fitch 
seconded.  The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Resolution No. 24-16  Adopting the Community Redevelopment Agency Budget for Fiscal 
Year 2017 

 
Council asked to staff to revise the Resolution to reflect a transfer to CRA reserve so that the 
budget is balanced (transfer of $220,165 to CRA reserves).   
 
Councilwoman Bookout made a motion to approve Resolution No. 24-16 with the above 
discussed revision.  Councilwoman Fitch seconded. The vote to approve was unanimous. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA ITEM(S): 
 

A. Approval of South Santa Rosa Utility System Board of Directors Recommendations 
 

1. Approval of F/Y 2017 Budget  
 

Recommendation: That the City Council approve the F/Y 2017 Budget as presented 
to the South Santa Rosa Utility Board.      



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 3 
 

 
2. Purchase of Chevrolet 2500 Truck 

 
Recommendation:  That the City Council authorize the purchase of one (1) Chevrolet 
2500 diesel with options listed for $39,630 from Alan Jay Fleet Sales through the Florida 
Sheriff’s Association annual contract. 
 

3. Whisper Bay Fire Hydrants 
 

Recommendation:  That the City Council authorize the replacement of three (3) and the 
addition of five (5) fire hydrants by Utility Service Company for $65,427.64.   
 

B. Authorization to purchase replacement aerator for Parks and Recreation Department 
 

Reference: Director of Parks and Recreation memo dated August 24, 2016   
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council authorize the purchase of the Renovaire Tow 
72 Aerators from Jacobsen GAP, Norcross, Georgia at their quoted price of $6,868.80.   
   

C. Approval for the School Resource Officer Agreement with the School District of Santa 
Rosa County 
 
Reference:   City Manager memo dated August 26, 2016   
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council approve the School Resource Officer 
Agreement for the 2016-2017 school year and authorize the mayor to sign the agreement.   

 
D. Approval for Santa Rosa County to continue with a municipal service benefit unit 

(MSBU) for paving and sewer service on Little Duck Circle, Jaetin Court, and Quiet 
Court  
  
Reference: Assistant Director of Public Services memo dated August 24, 2016   
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council allow the Little Duck MSBU project to 
proceed without advance payment of impact fees upon the condition that the County 
provide all property owners in the MSBU with the attached letter regarding the payment 
of impact fees.   
   



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 4 
 

E. Approval of annual population estimate from University of Florida’s Bureau of 
Economic and Business Research 

 
Reference: City Manager memo dated August 25, 2016   
 
Recommendation: That the City Council accepts the University of Florida’s 
preliminary population estimate of 5,818 as reasonably correct and authorize staff to 
respond accordingly.   

F. Authorization to pay invoices 96345 and 96346 in the amount of $13,093.36 to Smolker, 
Bartlett, Loeb, Hinds and Sheppard P.A.  
 
Reference: City Clerk memo dated August 25, 2016  
 
Recommendation: That the City Council approve payment of invoices 96345 and 
96346 for a total amount of $13,093.36 to Smolker, Bartlett, Loeb, Hinds and Sheppard, 
P.A.  
 

G. Authorization to pay invoice 335490 in the amount of $2,837.50 to the Galloway/Johnson 
Law Firm 
 
Reference: City Clerk memo dated August 25, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council approve payment of invoice No. 335490 in the 
amount of $2,837.50 to Galloway/Johnson Law Firm (GJTBS). 
 

H. Authorization to terminate the City’s contract with Roadwatch Management, Inc., 
regarding the Red Light Camera program 
 
Reference: City Manager memo dated August 26, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council direct staff to take action necessary to terminate 
the City’s contract with Roadwatch Management, Inc. 
 

I. Approval of reimbursement request from Gulf Breeze Area Chamber of Commerce from 
the Tourist Development Council (TDC) Fund in the amount of $10,500 

 
Reference: Assistant to City Manager memo dated August 9, 2016 

 
Recommendation:  That the City Council approve the funding reimbursement request the 
Gulf Breeze Area Chamber of Commerce for efforts in 2016 at a total of $10,500. 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 5 
 

 
J. Approval of funding request from the Gulf Breeze Celebrates the Arts from the Tourist 

Development Council (TDC) Fund in the amount of $6,000 
 

Reference: Assistant to City Manager memo dated August 9, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council approve the funding request from Gulf Breeze 
Celebrates the Arts for $6,000 to assist in operational costs associated with the 2017 Gulf 
Breeze Celebrates the Arts Festival. 
 

K. Authorization to construct two sand volleyball courts behind the Community Center 
 
Reference: Director of Parks & Recreation memo dated August 24, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council authorize the construction of two sand 
volleyball courts to be located just north of the stormwater retention area immediately 
behind the Community Center.  Further, the Council authorize General Fund reserves in 
an amount not to exceed $7,500 for construction. 
 

Councilwoman Fitch moved for approval of consent agenda items A through K.  Councilwoman 
Bookout seconded.  The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
ACTION AGENDA ITEMS:    

A. Approval of proposed utility rate increase 
 
 Reference: Assistant Director of Public Services memo dated August 24, 2016 
  

Recommendation: That the City Council approve the procedure and proposed rates 
that will be presented for approval at the public meeting on October 3, 2016.   
 
Mayor Dannheisser asked that the Council consider this matter in two separation actions.  
One would be to consider the CPI rate increase for this year and, secondly, consider an 
automatic CPI increase each year unless the Council directs otherwise. 
 
Councilwoman Bookout made a motion directing staff to schedule a special workshop for 
the South Santa Rosa Utility System Board of Directors to discuss the proposed rate 
increase.  Councilwoman Fitch seconded.  A vote was not taken on this motion.   
 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 6 
 

The Council tabled further discussion on the CPI rate increase as well as consideration of 
the automatic CPI rate increases until all Councilmembers could be present.   It was 
decided that the Council would not consider the rate increase until the October 17, 2016, 
Regular meeting allowing time for the SSRUS Board to hold the above discussed 
workshop.   
 

B. Authorization to publish a Request for Proposals to seek an investment advisor in 
addition to the current advisor  

 
Reference: Executive Director of GBFS memo dated August 26, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council authorize the Investments Administrator to seek 
respondents to this RFP and bring to the City Council a recommendation for selecting an 
investments advisor in addition to the current advisor already contracted. 
 

Councilwoman Fitch made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation.  Councilwoman 
Bookout seconded.  The vote for approval was unanimous.  
  

C. Approval of group health insurance renewal 
 

Reference: City Manager memos dated August 30, 2016 and August 31, 2016 
 
Recommendation:  That the City Council approve the enrollment in the following health 
insurance plans:  Medical:  PRM Plan 59 through Combined Insurance, Inc.; Dental:  
MetLife Option 3; Vision: MetLife; Disability and Life:  Standard.  Dental, Vision, and 
Disability and Life Insurance will remain with Rodney Rich and Company. 
 
Jimmy Kelly, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., Todd Torgersen, Combined Insurance, Inc., and 
Chad Rich, Rodney Rich and Company, spoke to the Council and answered questions. 
 
Mayor Dannheisser would like Staff to prepare an evaluation of the City’s plan compared 
to what other municipalities offer.   
 

Councilwoman Fitch made a motion to approve staff’s recommendations.  Councilwoman 
Bookout seconded.  The vote for approval was 2 – 1 with Mayor Dannheisser dissenting.  
 
NEW BUSINESS:   None  
 
INFORMATION ITEMS:    None 
 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                                                       
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GULF BREEZE, FLORIDA  

 

Regular Council Minutes                           September 7, 2016 Page 7 
 

Mayor Dannheisser suspended the meeting of the City Council at 7:46 p.m. for the Board of 
Directors of Gulf Breeze Financial Services and Community Redevelopment Agency to meet.  
The Council meeting was re-convened at 7:48 p.m. 
 
PUBLIC FORUM:      
 
Meredith Davis, 1611 Luzon Lane, Gulf Breeze, spoke about the Catawba lawsuit.  She asked 
the Council to carefully consider decisions made about the lawsuit. 
 
Debbie Stanhagen, 3638 Tiger Point Boulevard, spoke about the Catawba lawsuit and also asked 
the Council to carefully consider decisions regarding the lawsuit. 
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS:  
 
Councilwoman Bookout asked if the sewer abatement project would be placed back on the 
agenda.  The City Manager advised that it would be considered at the next set of meetings.  
Mayor Dannheisser also added that Staff will also be bringing a septic tank abatement policy to 
the Council for consideration.   Councilwoman Bookout inquired about the status of the taco 
stand that is located in the Bridge Bar parking lot.  The City Manager will have staff contact the 
business to see what their intent is.  If their intent is to operate the business as a restaurant, they 
will be asked to comply with appropriate requirements.   
 
Councilwoman Fitch advised Ms. Davis (who spoke about the Catawba lawsuit) that the Council 
will take its consideration of the lawsuit as seriously as any other matter.   
 
City Attorney Mike Stebbins advised the Council that he would like to hold a shade meeting on 
September 14, 2016, to discuss the Catawba lawsuit.   
 
ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Dannheisser adjourned the meeting at 8:05 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
Stephanie D. Lucas, City Clerk    Matt E. Dannheisser, Mayor 



 
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 

GULF BREEZE FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 

GBFS Board of Directors Minutes        September 7, 2016 Page 1 
 
 
 

 
A meeting of the Board of Directors for the Gulf Breeze Financial Services, Gulf Breeze, Florida, 
was convened at the Gulf Breeze City Hall Council Chambers on Wednesday, September 7, 2016, 
at 7:47 p.m.   
 
The following members were present: Councilwoman Renee Bookout, Councilwoman Cherry 
Fitch, and Mayor Matt Dannheisser.  Mayor Pro Tem Joseph B. Henderson and Councilman 
David G. Landfair were not present. 
    
The purpose of the meeting was for the Board of Directors of the Gulf Breeze Financial Services to 
consider the following:  
 
AGENDA ITEM 
 

A. Approval for the City Council to meet as the Board of Directors of Gulf Breeze Financial 
Services on September 7, 2016, and authorize the payment of invoice 9369209 in the 
amount of $29,575.43 to Jenner & Block, LLP 

 
Reference: City Clerk memo dated August 25, 2016 
  
Recommendation:  That the City Council meet as the Board of Directors of Gulf Breeze 
Financial Services (GBFS) on September 7, 2016, to approve payment of invoice number 
9369209 in the amount of $29,575.43 to Jenner & Block LLP.   
 

Councilwoman Bookout made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation.  Councilwoman 
Fitch seconded. The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
ACTION ITEMS:  None 
 
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS:  None  
 
PUBLIC FORUM: None 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Dannheisser adjourned the meeting at 7:48 p.m.    
   
   
   

 
Stephanie D. Lucas, City Clerk  Matt E. Dannheisser, Mayor 



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 
COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

CRA Board of Directors Minutes   September 7, 2016 Page 1 
 
 
 

A meeting of the Board of Directors for the Community Redevelopment Agency, Gulf Breeze, 
Florida, was convened at the Gulf Breeze City Hall Council Chambers on Wednesday, September 
7, at 7:48 p.m.   
 
The following members were present: Councilwoman Renee Bookout, Councilwoman Cherry 
Fitch, and Mayor Matt Dannheisser.  Mayor Pro Tem Joseph B. Henderson and Councilman 
David G. Landfair were not in attendance. 
    
The purpose of the meeting was for the Board of Directors of the Community Redevelopment 
Agency to consider the following:  
 
CONSENT AGENDA ITEM:* 
 

A. Approval to meet as the Board of Directors of the Community Redevelopment Agency on 
September 7, 2016, to authorize funding of tree trimming and pruning of Live Oak trees 
along Highway 98 
 
Reference: Director of Parks & Recreation memo dated August 24, 2016   
 
Recommendation: That the City Council meet as the Board of Directors of the 
Community Redevelopment Agency on Wednesday, September 7, 2016, and authorize 
Hurd Brother Tree Trimming, Gulf Breeze, Florida, to proceed with trimming and pruning 
the twenty-seven live oak trees in the medians of Highway 98, at their quoted price of 
$4,000.   
 

B. Authorization for the City Council to meet as the Board of Directors of the Community 
Redevelopment Agency on September 7, 2016, and authorize the payment of invoice 
96347 in the amount of $187.50 to Smolker, Bartlett, Loeb, Hinds and Sheppard P.A 
 
Reference: City Clerk memo dated August 25, 2016  
 
Recommendation: That the City Council meet as the Board of Directors of the CRA 
and authorize the payment of invoice 96347 in the amount of $187.50 to Smolker, Bartlett, 
Loeb, Hinds and Sheppard, P.A. 
 

C. Approval for the City Council to meet as the Board of Directors of the Community 
Redevelopment Agency on September 7, 2016, and authorize the payment of an invoice in 
the amount of $13,035 to Mesimer and Associates  

 
Reference: City Clerk memo dated August 25, 2016 
 



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 
COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

CRA Board of Directors Minutes   September 7, 2016 Page 2 
 
 
 

Recommendation:  That the City Council meet as the Board of Directors of the 
Community Redevelopment Agency on September 7, 2016, and approve payment of 
$13,035 to Mesimer and Associates.   
 

Councilwoman Fitch made a motion to approve Staff’s recommendations.  Councilwoman 
Bookout seconded.  The vote for approval was unanimous. 
 
ACTION ITEMS:   
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS:   
 
PUBLIC FORUM:  
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Dannheisser adjourned the meeting at 7:48 p.m. 
 
 
    
       
Stephanie D. Lucas, City Clerk  Matt E. Dannheisser, Mayor 

 























































 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 

 

Memorandum 
 
To : Edwin A. Eddy, City Manager 

From :  Samantha D. Abell, Deputy City Manager 

Date :  September 15, 2016 

Subject: Consideration of a Gulf Breeze Septic Tank Elimination Program (STEP) 

 
 
REQUEST: 
 
The City of Gulf Breeze Septic Tank Elimination Program (STEP) establishes options for 
funding the elimination of septic tanks, for the betterment of property conditions and values, and 
also to improve environmentally-sensitive lands. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The City of Gulf Breeze STEP is a totally voluntary program, dependent on annual funding and 
the applicant’s eligibility, in order to lessen financial hardships and encourage septic tank 
abatement. Citizens have expressed interest in a formal program which provides payment options 
for homeowners utilizing septic tanks and desiring to connect to the city’s sewer system.  
 
STEP is an acronym familiar to environmental funding agencies nationwide, with eligibility and 
participation options customized by the local government. The participating property owner must 
enter into an agreement with the city, and meet program eligibility requirements. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The majority of Gulf Breeze citizens are connected to the central sewer system, including all 
commercial customers. Less than a fifth of households within the city utilize septic tanks for 
sewage (approximately 500 of 2300 homes), generally located west of Navarre Street, excluding 
Peake’s Point.  
 
Most often, the city considers septic abatement prior to resurfacing a street or when sporadic 
grant funds are secured. One of the issues that makes septic tank abatement difficult to 
coordinate is that they do not fail with regularity or consistency. Factors that contribute to septic 
tank failure include: inadequate drain field size commensurate with flow, soil types, depth of 



   
 
 
 

2 
 

groundwater, and inadequate maintenance. When a drain field fails, regulations may require a 
new drain field rather than removal/replacement of the existing field. 
 
When a tank fails, there are two ways to connect the residence to the existing central sewer 
system: by gravity or by force main. A gravity connection requires appropriate topography and a 
nearby system that can be accessed such that the wastewater “runs downhill” to the collection 
system without “force” or power assistance. 
 
A connection via a force main is used when the area topography is not conducive to the 
economic connection of a residence via gravity to the closest part of the collection system. The 
Public Services Department makes a determination of the appropriate connection and calculates 
connection fees. The property owner is responsible for hiring a contractor to install the 
connection pipe from the home across private property, to the city’s connection. Depending on 
the size lot, house setback, and the type of connection needed, costs can be considerable. The 
cost may deter a homeowner from abandoning the tank before it fails, consequently placing an 
unplanned financial hardship on the owner.  
 
The Gulf Breeze STEP is a voluntary program and allows the property owner to abandon the 
septic tank and connect to city sewer affordably, prior to problems developing. 
 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The Public Services Department compared policies for STEP utilized by participating local 
governments inside and outside of Florida. The City Manager’s Office has determined that 
environmental agencies view STEP favorably and grant funds for such programs are most likely 
when the program exists prior to grant application, with funding allocations and project 
successes. The City Manager has discussed the proposal with City Council, who authorized the 
City Manager to proceed with developing a program for consideration.  
 
The Public Services Department developed a city STEP brochure which outlines need, 
eligibility, participation options and procedures for application, identified below (also attached): 
 

Program Need: 
Septic systems, while effective in the proper conditions, do not offer the best 
environmental solution for domestic waste treatment.  Poor soils, aging systems, 
increased use and development density changes can cause existing septic systems 
to malfunction.  Additionally, poorly draining soils, shallow groundwater and/or 
flood prone areas can cause septic systems to be unusable during certain times of 
the year. 
 
Eligibility: 
Any existing residence with a septic system is eligible for this program.  Existing 
platted, vacant residential lots may also be considered.   Undeveloped property 



   
 
 
 

3 
 

larger than 1 acre and commercial facilities are not eligible.  Priority of available 
city funding will be according to need and environmental benefit.  
 
Need for STEP: 
Need will be defined as environmental sensitivity given proximity to surface 
water, age of existing system, soil compatibility, and depth to groundwater. Other 
determinations of need are the size of lot, presence of trees and vegetation, 
density and intensity of land use/zoning district. 
 
Funding for STEP: 
Funding for Gulf Breeze’s STEP program is conditioned on funds appropriated, 
and outside grant sources. A cost match is required. Priority will be given in 
proportion to matching funds, and the likelihood of additional septic tank 
abatements in proximity to the new connection line.  
 
STEP Participation Options: 
The City provides several options for funding the elimination of septic tanks. 
 
A. Neighborhood Improvement Special Assessment 
A neighborhood group can petition the city to create a special assessment where 
each property is assessed for the cost of improvements to create the sewer 
collection system.  The city will require that 60% of those affected by the 
assessment agree to project.  Connection to the system for existing residences will 
be required within one year of completion of the construction. 
 
B. Individual Funding by Payment Plan 
An individual property owner can (1) apply to the city for financing of the sewer 
infrastructure required to connect to the sewer system, or (2) apply to the City 
with total costs paid by the property owner and recovered over a specified number 
of years until paid in full.  
 
In both instances, the property owner’s amount due is reduced by each additional 
connection onto the system by properties within 200 feet of the new sewer line 
with access through public rights of way.  The amount of reduction will be 
specified in the approved payment plan, determined by costs.  An agreement for 
reimbursement to the property owner for additional connections to the system will 
be developed.  In no case will the property owner be entitled to recover more than 
the original construction costs.  Recovery of interest and other fees is also 
prohibited. 
 
C. City Funding 
The city will provide some or all funds for construction costs for the installation 
of the sewer system.  The city may use existing funds or apply for grants to 
construct the system.  City funding will be prioritized for critical environmental 
and economic projects. 



   
 
 
 

4 
 

 
 
Procedures for STEP Application: 
Interested parties must be the property owner or authorized agent for owner. The 
application must indicate one of the three above categories for eligibility. 
 
An application form can be obtained at Gulf Breeze City Hall, 1070 Shoreline 
Drive, Gulf Breeze, FL 32561.  Additional questions or to obtain an electronic 
copy of the application please call 850.934.5110 or email 
PublicServices@gulfbreezefl.gov. 
 
The application will be reviewed by public services staff for completeness and 
feasibility. A cost estimate will be compiled and project requirements established.  
These details will be shared with applicant(s) to determine the willingness to 
continue with the project.  Public Services will submit a recommendation to the 
city manager for approval by city council. 
 
Upon approval, public services will contract for the required engineering, 
permitting and construction.  If project costs exceed the estimated costs, the 
applicant(s) may withdraw from the project and the city council must approve 
expenditures above the original estimates. 
 
Payment for loans and special assessments will begin upon certification of 
completion of construction.  Deposits, fees and other direct payments to the city 
for sewer service are also due at this time. 
 
Special Conditions for Payment Plan: 
 
 The individual will be responsible for the entirety of the construction 
costs, financed by the city for 3-7 years, at prime interest rate + 1%, with a 
mortgage established on the property.  Longer terms than 7 years for project costs 
greater than $25,000 may be approved by the City Council. 
 If the property is sold, the remainder of the financed cost will be due in 
full. 
 Failure to make timely loan payments will result in termination of water 
service. 
 The city will establish the number of total connections that could be 
served by the project.  An infrastructure fee will be established for each new 
connection to be made by dividing the costs by one half the number of 
connections possible.  This fee will be credited to the property owner’s amount 
owed, as fees are collected.  This credit will be a maximum of the loan amount 
under option (1) or the total construction amount under option (2), and only 
applicable during the payment plan period while the original property owner is in 



   
 
 
 

5 
 

possession of the property.   All excess fees collected will be designated for the 
city’s septic tank elimination program fund. 
 
Special Conditions for Special Assessment: 
 
 60% of those affected must agree to the initial and final project costs. 
 Special assessments may be paid in full at any time, but an annual 
payment will be required with the property tax assessment. 
 Liens for non-payment may also be established. 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The City Council may: 

1. Approve a Gulf Breeze Septic Take Abatement Program; or 
2. Approve a Gulf Breeze Septic Take Abatement Program with changes; or 
3. Reject a Gulf Breeze Septic Take Abatement Program 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Gulf Breeze Septic Take Abatement Program Brochure, Department of Public Services 
 



The City of Gulf Breeze, FL  
Septic Tank Elimination 

Program (STEP) 

Program Need: 

Septic systems, while effective in 

the proper conditions, do not offer 

the best environmental solution 

for domestic waste treatment in 

many conditions.  Poor soils, 

aging systems, increased use and 

development density changes can 

cause existing septic systems to 

malfunction.   Additionally, 

poorly draining soils, shallow 

groundwater or flood prone areas 

can cause septic systems to be 

unusable during certain times of 

the year. 

construction.  Deposits, fees and other direct 

payments to the city for sewer service are also 

due at this time. 

Special Conditions for Payment Plan: 

 The individual will be responsible for the 

entirety of the construction costs, financed 

by the city for 3-7 years, at an annual 

interest rate of 4%, with a mortgage 

established on the property.  Longer terms 

than 7 years for project costs greater than 

$25,000 may be approved by Gulf Breeze 

City Council. 

 If the property ownership changes or is 

transferred, the remainder of the financed 

cost will be due in full. 

 Failure to make timely payments will 

result in termination of water service. 

 The city will establish the number of total 

connections within 200 feet of the 

proposed system with access through 

public rights of way that could be served 

by the project.  An infrastructure fee will 

be established for each new connection to 

be made by dividing the costs by one half 

the number of connections possible.  This 

fee will be credited to the property 

owner’s amount owed, as fees are 

collected.  This credit will be a maximum 

of the loan amount under option (1) or the 

total construction amount under option (2), 

and only applicable during the payment 

plan period while the original property 

owner is in possession of the 

property.   All excess fees collected will 

be designated for the city’s septic tank 

elimination program fund  

Special Conditions for Special Assessment: 

 60% of those affected must agree to the 

initial and final project costs. 

 Special assessments may be paid in full 

at any time, but an annual payment will 

be required with the property tax 

assessment. 

 Liens for non-payment may also be 
established. 



C. City Funding 

The city may provide some or all funds for 

construction costs of the installation of the 

sewer system.  The city may use existing 

funds or apply for grants to construct the 

system.  City funding will be prioritized for 

critical environmental issues and projects 

with significant private contributions. 

Procedures for STEP Application: 

Interested parties must be the property owner or 

authorized agent for owner. The application 

must indicate one of the three above categories 

for eligibility. 

An application form can be obtained at Gulf 

Breeze City Hall, 1070 Shoreline Drive, Gulf 

Breeze, FL 32561.  Additional questions or to 

obtain an electronic copy of the application 

please call 850.934.5110 or email 

PublicServices@gulfbreezefl.gov. 

The application will be reviewed by public 

services staff for completeness and feasibility.  

A cost estimate will be compiled and project 

requirements established.  These details will be 

shared with applicant(s) to determine the 

willingness to continue with the project.  Public 

services will submit a recommendation to the 

city manager for approval by city council. 

Upon approval, public services will contract for 

the required engineering, permitting and 

construction.  If project costs exceed the 

estimated costs, the applicant(s) may withdraw 

from the project and the city council must 

approve expenditures above the original 

estimates. 

Payment for loans and special assessments will 

begin upon certification of completion of 

for existing residences will be required 

within one year of completion of the 

construction. 

B. Individual Funding by Payment Plan 

An individual property can (1) apply to the 

city for financing of the sewer infrastructure 

required to connect to the sewer system 

or   (2) apply to the city for a payment plan 

with total costs paid by the property owner 

and recovered over a specified number of 

years until paid in full. In both instances, the 

property owner’s amount due is reduced by 

each additional connection onto the system 

by properties within 200 feet of the new 

sewer line with access through public rights 

of way.  The amount of reduction will be 

specified in the approved payment plan, 

determined by costs.    An agreement for 

reimbursement to the property owner for 

additional connections to the system will be 

developed.  In no case will the property 

owner be entitled to recover more than the 

original construction costs.  Recovery of 

interest and other fees is also prohibited.   

 

Eligibility: 

Any existing residence with a septic system is 
eligible for this program.  Existing platted, 
vacant residential lots may also be considered.   
Undeveloped property larger than 1 acre and 
commercial facilities are not eligible.  Priority of 
available city funding will be according to need 
and environmental benefit.  

Need for STEP: 

Need will be defined as environmental 

sensitivity given proximity to surface water, age 

of existing system, soil compatibility, and depth 

to groundwater. Other determinations of need 

are the size of lot, presence of trees and 

vegetation, density and intensity of land use/

zoning district. 

Funding for STEP: 

Funding for Gulf Breeze’s STEP program is 

conditioned on funds appropriated, and outside 

grant sources. A cost match is required. Priority 

will be given in proportion to matching funds, 

and the likelihood of additional septic tank 

abatements in proximity to the new connection 

line.  

STEP Participation Options: 

The City provides several options for funding 

the elimination of septic tanks. 

A. Neighborhood Improvement Special 

Assessment 

A neighborhood group can petition the city 

to create a special assessment  program 

where each property is assessed for the cost 

of improvements to create the sewer 

collection system.  The city will require that 

60% of those affected by the assessment 

agree to project.  Connection to the system 

mailto:PublicServices@gulfbreezefl.gov











	September 19 2016 Regular Meeting agenda
	SEPTEMBER 7 2016 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
	September 7 2016 GBFS Minutes
	September 7 2016 CRA MEETING MINUTES
	Resolution 25 16 Millage Rate - Final
	Resolution 26 16 Budget Final Resolution
	PRM Contract and Bylaws
	STEP Program 09 15 2016
	Septic Tank Elimination Project 09 15 2016
	Investment Authorization FS Advisors 09 13 16

